## Master's thesis – master Innovation Sciences

# The role of intermediary actors in inclusive innovation

Master Thesis Innovation Sciences

Supervisor Utrecht University: Koen Beumer

Supervisor EBZ: Marcel Kleijn

12014 words

Tijmen Bormans - 6203493

t.m.bormans@students.uu.nl



#### **Abstract**

One of today's most pressing challenges countries face, is inequality, from a societal perspective and an economic perspective. Scholars argue that sustainable growth is hampered by inequality. Therefore, attention is asked for inclusive innovation. This study uses a constructivist notion, that states that the negative effect of a having diverse alternative meanings to crucial concepts should not be underestimated. Therefore, intermediary actors should play a role in bridging different viewpoints together. The overarching aim of this study is to look at the different roles ascribed by key players to intermediaries in stimulating inclusive innovations. To fully understand this role, the study focusses first whether there is a consensus is on what inclusive innovation is and how it can be implemented.

A framework is developed in which the different meanings ascribed towards inclusive innovation can be analysed: *what* kind of inclusion actors are targeting and *how* they want to achieve this inclusion. The framework is theoretically founded. The data of this study is based on qualitative interviews with key stakeholders of the Economic Board Zuid-Holland (EBZ).

The main finding from this study is that the viewpoints on inclusive innovation are very diverse. There is no correlation between actors type and their view on inclusive innovation. So from this, the study concludes that the basic conditions for a successful inclusive innovation strategy is not in place The roles ascribed towards intermediaries vary too: varying form no role, a facilitator of learning role, and third a more pro-active role.

The study has theoretical implications. The most important is that important typologies must be supplemented with a basic role in organizing some kind of congruence in thinking between key stakeholders. In this role the intermediary could play a role in giving a clear description in what inclusive innovation entails, organize a process that helps bring synchroneity in opinions and facilitates a learning process between key stakeholders.

This EBZ faces a challenge, formulated in a critical report of the OECD to integrate inclusion in her strategy; facing a variety of meaning attributed to the *why*, *what* and *how* regarding inclusiveness and in the attribution of the role EBZ should play in this regard. A dilemma, which only can be overcome if EBZ is able to develop a more initiating, leadership-like role. It's urgent, especially in times of huge shortages in the labor-market, being a direct threat to sustainable growth of the economy in South-Holland.

### Table of Contents

1. Introduction	3
2. Theory	5
2.1 Inclusive innovation	6
2.2 Which inclusive innovation?	7
2.3 Intermediaries	9
2.4 Framework for inclusive innovation	11
3. Methodology	11
3.1 Research design	11
3.2 Research quality	13
4. Results	14
4.1 Main findings	15
4.2 Viewpoints on inclusive innovation	16
4.2.1 Social inclusiveness	16
4.2.2 Industrial inclusiveness	17
4.2.3 Territorial inclusiveness	19
4.3 Meanings ascribed to the role of the intermediaries in respect to inclusive innovation.	20
4.4 How do the ascribed role to intermediaries in inclusive innovation relate to the theory about intermediaries in innovation?	
5. Discussion	22
6. Conclusion	24
References	26
Annendix A	31

#### 1. Introduction

One of today's most pressing challenges countries face is inequality (Planes-Satorra, S. & C. Paunov, 2017). In developing countries the steady overall economic growth masks the decline in economic and social welfare at the bottom (Chataway et al. 2014). Innovation causes economic growth, but also causes inequality. Inequality is not only a problem for developing countries, it is also a rising problem for OECD countries, where in the past 30 years income disparities have risen to an extreme level. In the OECD area, the richest 10% is earning almost ten times more than the poorest 10% (OECD, 2015a). More and more evidence shows that the growing inequality is not just morally unfair but also socially, by reducing cohesion and increasing conflict, and economically damaging, by constraining investment and ultimately consumption (Stiglitz 2012, Wilkinson & Pickett 2010).

In order to decrease inequality, policymakers are looking for ways to achieve inclusive growth. Inclusive growth is economic growth which creates opportunities for all parts of the population and distributes the dividends of newly increased prosperity fairly across society. This can be in monetary but also in nonmonetary terms (Planes-Satorra, S. & C. Paunov, 2017). Policies such as tax, social and labour market and education policies have traditionally been used to increase inclusion, but have failed to achieve inclusive growth.

One ingredient to growth that has been largely ignored in discussions about inclusive growth is innovation. Innovation is often seen as a driver of growth, leading to a view of innovation that centres around large scale technical transformation of nations (Lundvall et al., 1988). However, this type of innovation has centred around the economic core of nations, and not around the periphery, therefore causing inequality and exclusion (Foster & Heeks, 2015).

Recently, academics and policy makers are starting to look at inclusive innovation (OECD, 2020). George et al. (2012), defined inclusive innovation as: 'the development and implementation of new ideas which aspire to create opportunities that enhance social and economic wellbeing for disenfranchised members of society'. Whereas conventional views of innovation see progress generalized by economic growth, inclusive innovation, in contrast, sees progress in terms of active inclusion of those who are excluded from the mainstream of development (IDRC, 2011; Foster & Heeks, 2014).

What is important to stress it that inclusive innovation is not only in need of more attention to policy makers because of the societal or political reasons, but also because of economic reasons. It can be seen as a characteristic of the desired process of the innovative initiatives, tapping in untapped economic potential from the otherwise excluded group (George et al., 2012). Important to bear in mind in an era in which all economic sectors face a shortage in the labour force (OECD, 2021).

There have been multiple attempts to conceptualize inclusive innovation and to create different categories within them. According to Heeks (2013), there can be levels in the amount of inclusiveness. He calls this the ladder of inclusive innovation. The theory of innovation systems states that innovation is not a linear process but that especially the context, the institutions, around the innovation matter (Lundvall, 2008). Following this, researchers say that to stimulate inclusive innovation policy makers should look at the infrastructure surrounding the innovation (Heeks, 2013; Longworth et al., 2019), and that inclusive innovation can be

improved by aligning the institutions around innovation towards a system that facilitates inclusiveness. According to Johnson & Andersen (2012), one way to stimulate inclusive innovation is to improve knowledge exchange in institutions around innovation towards users from excluded groups. They say that to stimulate inclusive innovation 'interactive learning spaces' need to be made.

However, according to Levidow & Papaioannou (2018), inclusion can mean different things for different people. One person could have a very different view about what is inclusive than someone else, and therefore have alternate solutions about how to achieve inclusiveness. Remedies towards inclusion thus differ and competing normative assumptions can exist, and thus the framing of the concept of inclusive innovation alters the conditions for which policies are inclusive. Hence, merely ticking boxes of inclusive innovation, e.g. stimulating the 'poor', and merely looking at the context surrounding inclusive innovation, will not suffice. This raises the question how these different views can be brought together.

Recent research on innovation suggest that intermediaries can play an important role in bringing different viewpoints together. Intermediary actors connect actors and transfer knowledge and technology between them rapidly and viably (Villani et al., 2017). Research about intermediary actors says that they are key catalysts that speed up change (Kivimaa et al, 2019; Page & Fuller, 2021). The role of intermediary actors is especially highlighted by researchers for system – level transitions (Kivimaa, 2014; Hodson et al., 2013). However, literature has not yet discussed how intermediaries can bridge different perspectives of stakeholders in relation to inclusive innovation. There is a need for a deeper understanding of what role intermediaries can play in bridging these perspectives, and how intermediaries can therefore stimulate inclusive innovation successfully. Hence, studying the contradicting normative viewpoints about inclusive innovation, and viewpoints about the role of intermediaries in bringing these together seem necessary to increase inclusion and thus decrease inequality. Therefore, the question this research tries to answer is:

What roles are ascribed to intermediary actors in order to stimulate inclusive innovation in South-Holland?

To fully understand the need for intermediaries to play a role in the process of inclusive innovation, and to have a framework for evaluating the role ascribed to them, we first need to understand the context in which the intermediaries have to operate in relation to inclusive innovations. The role an intermediaries has to play is partly depending on the meaning key players attribute to the concept of "inclusive innovation". Especially the degree of divergence or convergence in the meaning attributed is important. Therefore this study first tries to answer the following question:

Are the conditions in place for a successful strategy of inclusive innovation in South-Holland, in a way that there is a kind of consensus around key players what the meaning and importance of inclusive innovation is?

This study will try to answer these questions by looking at the case of the Economic Board Zuid-Holland (EBZ). One of the triggers of this study was a report by the OECD (2021), which critiqued the Joint Growth Agenda created by the EBZ. They stated that there was too little attention paid to inclusion in the growth agenda. The OECD stated that "that the COVID-19 crisis has highlighted the importance of addressing already existing, deeply entrenched

social inequality". The OECD urges EBZ not only to pay attention to inclusive innovation for social reasons, but also for economic reasons: ".... but addressing inequalities and mainstreaming inclusive growth throughout the agenda can ensure that everybody benefits form the region's recovery and help make growth more sustainable." (OECD, 2021, P.43).

The EBZ is an intermediary actor that brings together the thirty of the most important stakeholders of the economy of South-Holland, with the main goal of improving the 'innovation climate' within South-Holland. It is constructed based on the triple helix model, thus bridging actors from the business, education and public sector. In order to answer this research question we will look at how the different actors look at inclusive innovation and in that context find out the roles they ascribe to intermediary actors. This case is appropriate for this research because of the intermediary role of the EBZ in bringing together different stakeholders from different sectors with different viewpoints, and because of the challenge the OECD lays down for the EBZ in her recent report.

The questions will be studied by taking a constructivist approach in order to understand inclusive innovation, where we assume the importance of analysing the degree in which actors attribute different or similar meanings to innovations and their relationship to society. Research shows that actors can give different meanings to the inclusiveness of innovations as well and that it is relevant to explain the success or failure of strategies for inclusive innovation. This builds on the theory of the Social Construct of Technology (SCOT). Levidow & Papaioannou (2018) have also shown that this constructivist view helps to understand inclusion in relation to innovation. The constructivist framework learns us that when actors want to achieve a joint goal, there must be a kind of consensus between key players about the innovation process. This will be done by qualitative research, interviewing key stakeholders brought together by the EBZ and stakeholders of the secretariat of the EBZ themselves. They will be asked what meaning they give to inclusive innovation, what the role of the EBZ is now, and what they think the role of the EBZ should be in stimulating inclusive innovation. By doing this, this research will showcase different viewpoints of inclusive innovation and different viewpoints on the role of intermediaries with respect to inclusive innovation. These answers, combined with the literature on inclusive innovation and intermediaries, could then answer the research question what the roles are ascribed to intermediary actors in order to stimulate inclusive innovation. Thus, greater understanding of the role of intermediaries in stimulating inclusive innovation, can in turn lead to more inclusivity and therefore less inequality.

#### 2. Theory

The following section is structured as follow: first, the concept of inclusive innovation will be further elaborated. Second, I introduce the constructivist approach to inclusion. Third, it will be explained why intermediary actors can play an important role in stimulating inclusive innovation. Last, a framework will be presented in which the different meanings people give to inclusive innovation can be explored.

#### 2.1 Inclusive innovation

George et al. (2012), defined inclusive innovation as: 'the development and implementation of new ideas which aspire to create opportunities that enhance social and economic wellbeing for disenfranchised members of society'. Inclusive innovation has been a research topic for the past fifteen years or so, for which most research is written the last ten years (Heeks et al., 2013). Many researchers claim the origins of the term are traced to Utz & Dahlman (2007), in their study on how to strengthen India's innovation environment. Inclusive innovation explicitly conceives of a regions development in terms of active inclusion to participate in/or benefit from innovation for excluded members of society. In contrast, the standard view of innovation sees development generalized as economic growth (Foster & Heeks, 2013).

Inclusive growth due to inclusive innovation initiatives can be seen as a desired social outcome of the innovation process, targeting those individuals who otherwise would not benefit from the innovation process. But, it can also be seen as a characteristic of the desired process of the innovative initiatives, tapping in untapped economic potential from the otherwise excluded group (George et al, 2012). Concepts such as: 'below-the-radar innovation', 'grassroots innovation', 'BoP innovation', 'innovation platforms' and many more (Cozzens & Sutz 2012; Hall et al., 2012; Heeks, 2013; Ramani et al. 2012; Smith et al., 2014), are closely related and often fall under the main terminology 'inclusive innovation'.

Studies about inclusive innovation often arose from the field of innovation studies. In the system perspective of innovation studies, there is an emphasis on knowledge exchange and collaboration from a variety of actors, thus there need to be institutions around this system who optimally facilitates this (Klerkx & Leeuwis, 2009). Therefore, most models of inclusive innovation are based on the system models, with inclusiveness added. For example, the inclusive innovation readiness index (Heeks et al., 2013) states that inclusive innovation can best be supported by changing the institutions around the innovation. This follows the model of innovation system (Lundvall, 1988) closely, only adding inclusion to it. These new inclusive innovation models also stress the importance of knowledge exchange, but adds on to it by highlighting the importance of knowledge exchange specifically towards the excluded group (Johnson & Andersen, 2012). Longworth et al. (2019) state that to improve inclusive innovation barriers towards knowledge exchange must be broken down and institutions that facilitate knowledge transfer should be put in place. According to Planes-Satorra & Paunov (2017) best practices to improve inclusive innovation can be region specific, and their underlying success factors can thus be conditional. These models stresses the importance of the context around inclusive innovation.

An influential framework for studying inclusive innovation is the so-called ladder of inclusive innovation (Heeks et al., 2013). It states that inclusion can be achieved in many ways and not only by including an excluded group to the innovation process. The ladder of inclusive innovation consists of steps, from which each succeeding step involves a gradual deepening of the extent of inclusion of the excluded group in relation to innovation. Each step accepts the level of inclusion of the step below, but extents the level of inclusion further. So, one can say, every step on the ladder of inclusive innovation is meaningful, but also that the higher the features of the innovation process stand on the ladder, the more inclusion it adds to the innovation system.

The first three steps of the ladder are about the *users of the innovation*. The first step is about intention, which states an innovation is inclusive if it wants to address the problems of a certain excluded group. The second is about consumption, an innovation is inclusive if it is adopted by an excluded group. The third step is impact, it states that an innovation is inclusive if it has a positive impact on the livelihood of an excluded group. The fourth step of the ladder is about the *process* itself, if the excluded group is included in the development of the innovation, then it is inclusive. The last two steps are structure and post-structure. They state that an innovation is inclusive when the *institutions and the framing around the innovation* allow for inclusiveness. Thus, to achieve this level of inclusiveness on the ladder, the institutions around the innovation system must be aligned and framed in such a way that it supports a whole innovation system towards inclusive innovations.

The question arises which excluded group should be given attention in inclusive innovation? Dominant attention has been given to 'the poor, those with the lowest income defined by an amount of US dollars (Heeks et al., 2013). However, by only using the distinction of 'the poor', a huge group is left out. In a study of the OECD (2020), a much more all-including definition of the excluded group is given and shows what type of inequalities can arise. In the study, a distinction between three forms of inclusiveness in relation to innovation is given. First, social inclusiveness, is about expanding the group of innovators by including the underrepresented group of people in research, business, entrepreneurship and innovation activities. This can be based on ethnicity, gender, social class, income, age et cetera. Second, industrial inclusiveness, is about expanding the group of innovative activities towards less innovative firms and traditional sectors, this can be sectors specific, for example the agricultural sector versus the life science sector. It can also be firm specific, for example multinationals versus small medium enterprises. Last, territorial inclusiveness, is about including lagging and less innovative regions to narrow the gap with leading innovation regions. Inclusive innovation should thus not only be about including certain people, but also things, such as sectors and territories.

#### 2.2 Which inclusive innovation?

The different models of inclusive innovation described above all presume that inclusive innovation is relatively unproblematic in nature. If certain steps are taken, then inclusion can be achieved. Perhaps the best example of this is the ladder of inclusive innovation. This understanding of inclusion has recently been contested by authors such as Levidow & Papaioannou (2018), who put forward a constructivist understanding of inclusion that I will follow in this thesis. In essence, their argument is that people (can) have altering viewpoints about inclusive innovation: what is inclusive according to one group of people, may be exclusive to another. So, the extra dimension of using the constructivist frame work is that (inclusive) innovation is not a "mechanic thing", using the right buttons and then the system works, but an awareness of the importance of a common understanding, similar viewpoints on what inclusive innovation is.

This builds on a constructivist understanding of technology, that has been previously put forwards by Bijker and Pinch (1984). They argue that the developmental process of a technology is a process of variation and selection. Because of this, the meaning that social groups who are concerned with the technology, give to specific technological problems is

important, as problems which need to be solved are only problems if people call them as such. Technology is culturally constructed and interpreted and thus not deterministic, which Bijker and Pinch call 'imperative flexibility' (Pinch & Bijker, 1984; Bijker, 1987). Imperative flexibility shows that neither an technological artifacts' identify, nor its success or failure, are intrinsic properties of the artifact, but rather that is subjective to specific social norms and views (Bijker, 1996; Djordjevic et al., 2016.). From this follows that if the identify and success and failure of innovations can be interpreted differently, that also its inclusiveness can be interpreted differently.

The SCOT framework highlights the importance of relevant social groups and the meaning they give to a specific artefact (Pinch & Bijker 1984). They describe the developmental process to consist of conflicts: conflicting technological requirements from the relevant social groups, conflicting solutions and even moral conflicts. The best technology is formed by a stabilization process where in the end the norms and values of all relevant social groups are taken into account. Thus, it can be said to form the best technologies, the norms and values of as much relevant social groups should be taken into account. This way of thinking is called the democratization of science (Kelly & Farahbakhsh, 2013).

Levidow & Papaioannou (2018) take such a constructivist approach to inclusion, by showing that actors not only (can) ascribe different meanings to innovation, but also inclusion. They say that although they agree that the context plays a crucial role, the framing of it as an external condition downplays the institutional responsibility for inequitable conditions. They argue that normative viewpoints how institutions should be designed can alter inclusiveness. According to Jiminez (2008) the best way to improve inclusive innovation can differ depending on the underlying political stances and societal arrangements.

Levidow & Papaioannou (2018) argue that normative assumptions about inclusive innovation relate two distinct theoretical camps about what social justice should be, namely that of the liberal-individualist and that of the social-collectivist. From a liberal-individualistic view, equity is framed as a fairer individual distribution of societal benefits versus their costs. That means that more high-tech investment, more and better skill training and cheaper products will lead to greater access for the excluded group. This view is in line with neoliberal political agendas. From a social-collectivist view, equity is framed as a basis to collectively constitute social benefits along more transformative lines. From this assumption, producers and consumers should seek fair and equal relationships for knowledge exchange as a mean to battle the dominant market power. The social-collectivist camp highlights the importance of collective action (Hargrave & van de Ven, 2006) to transform the constitutive conditions which sustain inequity. They argue that such transformative agendas define societal goods and bads more accurately (Martin, 2013). Therefore, by contesting the dominant neoliberal innovation agenda, power conflicts will arise. Thus, the social-collectivist camp contest the dominant neoliberal innovation agenda, and finds it not inclusive, whilst the liberal-individualist camp finds it inclusive.

By showing inclusive innovation through two different normative assumptions, Levidow & Papaioannou (2018) show that the way one views what is inclusive and how inclusion comes about, different views arise what policy measures should be taken. Therefore, different viewpoints about inclusive innovation and even between the distinctions of social, industrial and territorial inclusiveness exist. These different interpretations of innovations and

their inclusiveness can be explained with the constructivist theories of innovation, such as the Social Construct of Technology (SCOT) (Pinch & Bijker, 1984).

Thus, this constructivist framework can be linked to inclusive innovation in two ways. First the concept of imperative flexibility shows that views about inclusive innovation can – and most likely will - differ between stakeholders. And not taking into account this likeliness will hamper successful (inclusive) innovation at forehand. And thus, that the different interpretations of the relevant stakeholders should all be taken into account to achieve the broader goal of improving inclusive innovation. This being so, it raises the question whether inclusive innovation could benefit from actors who can act as brokers and bridge the different viewpoints of these actors.

#### 2.3 Intermediaries

Intermediaries are organizations that work to enable cooperation between different parties to connect each other into bilateral or multilateral relationship (Dalziel, 2010). Intermediaries have been found to be a bridge between various actors where interaction between them is difficult due to high transaction costs (Kivimaa et al., 2019). The role of intermediaries is also highlighted when problems arise in communication because of differences in culture, interest or knowledge exchange. Researchers use different notions for intermediaries, for example 'middle actors' (Parag & Janda, 2014), 'boundary spanners' (Smink et al., 2015; Tisenkopfs et al., 2015), and 'brokers' (Winch & Courtney, 2007). Intermediaries are often used in the digital sector, in their role as search engines such as 'Google' and 'Facebook' (Nielsen & Ganter, 2018); in the financial world, in their role by facilitating trade (Ahn et al., 2011); and for stimulating innovation (eg Boon et al, 2008; Klerkx & Leeuwis, 2009; van Lente et al., 2003).

The role of intermediary in innovation systems have been widely researched. For innovations to be supported and succeed, different actors need to collaborate and align their activities (Klerkx & Leeuwis, 2009). From this perspective, collaboration between actors is crucial, and hence it is no surprise that intermediaries are thought to play a role in making innovation systems function properly. Intermediaries form the link between firms, research institutes, the demand side and the infrastructure of the innovation system (Boon et al., 2008, Howells, 2006).

Three basic functions arise (Klerkx & Leeuwis, 2008): 1) demand articulation, articulating the specific innovation needs and the corresponding demands in terms of technology, knowledge, funding, policy et cetera; 2) network facilitating, facilitating networks and linkages between different relevant actors, which can consist of scanning, scoping and matchmaking of possible co-operators (Klerkx & Leeuwis, 2009); 3) innovation process management, which consist of aligning and learning of the multi-actor network and facilitate learning and cooperation between them.

Intermediaries, however, can also take a more involved role, by focusing on the transfer of specific technologies between different firms and organisations. With the emphasis on transferring existing technologies and finding new uses in different sectors and industries (Hargadon, 1998). This stresses that intermediaries need to have more complete knowledge about the various technological areas in which they operate, and shows the bridging role it has between previously unrelated or unconnected groups (Howells, 2006). The role of

intermediaries is seen as front end, as they intermediate before the innovation process. However, some researchers even argue the role of intermediaries goes even further (Hayne & Vance, 2019), and say intermediaries have roles as standard setters and evaluators of technologies after it has been transferred.

If we interpret intermediaries through a constructivist lens, we can see that intermediaries may play a role in bringing together groups that attribute different meanings to a technology. As such, intermediaries, this study hypothesizes, could act as mechanism to foster discussion about different meaning of inclusiveness in the context of innovation, which Levidow & Papaioannou (2018) has pointed out exist. Intermediaries are actors that can bring actors with different meaning together, and perhaps even bring different meaning into the conversation with one another. Having an active participation in the innovation process by bringing different meanings into the conversation, the role of intermediaries could, and perhaps should, go beyond the scope of the role of intermediaries in the framework of Klerx & Leeuwis (2008). In this role intermediaries could decrease conflict about what measures should be taken to improve inclusiveness, plus it could enhance learning between different organizations. Martiskainen and Kivimaa (2018), build onto this and say that intermediaries can have clear normative assumptions and steer organizations through their translation.

Another role intermediaries in inclusive innovation could play is that of 'relational work' (Moss, 2009). Through this role intermediaries connect specific and local innovation projects, often grassroot innovations (Hargreaves et al., 2013) with one another. Specifically, they can identify common issues and problems encountered in multiple local projects and support future development by sharing this knowledge widely, helping subsequent projects benefit from this accumulated knowledge and experience. By taking on this role the intermediaries are operating more at the regime level, then the roles explained by Klerx & Leeuwis (2008), where they are operating more at the system level (Kvimaa et al., 2019).

From this we can see that although some of the roles of the framework of Klerx & Leeuwis (2008) are applicable to the roles of intermediaries in inclusive innovation, there are some extra roles which could be applicable that are not in their framework. The roles of the framework of Klerx & Leeuwis (2008), that are applicable is that of demand articulation. The intermediary can take different demands about inclusive innovations of various stakeholders and create an agenda (Boon et al., 2008). The entries on the agenda are weighed, discussed and in the end the intermediary can chose which action to pursue to take into account the values and norms of the most stakeholders as possible. When they are pursued, they are in turn issued to the stakeholders, for example in the form of creating taskforces for a specific topic or setting standards for specific inclusive technologies. What we see here is the learning process in intermediaries about characteristics of inclusive innovation which should be pursued. Also the role of network facilitator and via technology transfer, we can see how this role could also be taken on.

However, we also see some roles for intermediaries that are not in the framework of Klerx & Leeuwis (2008). For example, the role of relational work and that of bringing different meanings of inclusiveness of the technology together, or even bring their own meaning in to the conversation. Therefore, it is likely – but needs more research as will be shown in the conclusions – that a more specific or elaborate framework is needed to explain the role of intermediaries in inclusive innovation.

#### 2.4 Framework for inclusive innovation

As is said before, in order to answer the research question, we first need to look at the different meanings actors give towards inclusive innovation, and after in that context can we look at the different roles which can be ascribed to intermediaries in inclusive innovation. In order to analyse these different meanings, a framework must be made in which the meaning of the actors can be categorized. This study will look at inclusive innovation in two dimensions: the first, described about *what* kind of inclusion the actors are targeting, which is based on the framework of the OECD (2020). The second dimension is about *how* these actors want to achieve inclusive innovation, and is based on the model of Heeks et al. (2013).

This framework is constituted the following way: horizontally it shows what kind of inclusion the actors are targeting, consisting of *social*, *industrial* and *territorial* inclusion. And vertically it shows the six steps of the ladder of inclusive innovation: *intent*, *consumption*, *impact*, *process*, *structural* and *post-structural*. So in the end it shows for every kind of inclusion they are targeting, the way they want to achieve this inclusive innovation. This can be seen in the framework below.

These two dimensions can be put together in one framework, because they shows important aspects of inclusive innovation, namely what kind of inclusion actors are targeting and how they want to achieve inclusive innovation. More important from a conceptual point of view, these dimensions can be put together, because they don't have any conceptual overlap with each other, and are perfectly complementary: the framework combines the *what* and the *how*.

**Tabel A: Framework for inclusive innovation** 

	Social	Industrial	Territorial
Intent			
Consumption			
Impact			
Process			
Structural			
Post-Structural			

#### 3. Methodology

#### 3.1 Research design

Based on the constructivist lens on inclusive innovation, this study looks at the different meanings give towards inclusive innovation and the role actors ascribe to intermediaries in enabling (or hindering) inclusive innovation. To answer this question this study will look at inclusive innovation through two dimension, based on the framework discussed above. Importantly to note, by using this framework this research still follows the constructivist approach, but creates a roster in which actor types can be placed in. Using this framework the divergence of convergence in meanings given toward inclusive innovation can be analysed.

Additionally by analysing how specific actors respond to the question, correlations may be found between actor types, regions they operate in, the business they are in et cetera.

Then this study will look at the current role of the EBZ and look at the different viewpoints of stakeholders about what the role of the intermediary should be in relation to inclusive innovation. Important to know is that, this study will not use an existing framework to analyse the different roles ascribed to the EBZ. Instead, it will use grounded theory in order to get a complete as possible view on all the roles ascribed to the EBZ in enabling inclusive innovation. Grounded theory was established by Glaser & Strauss (1967) to acquire necessary interpretations from qualitative data. The tools creating grounded theory are explained by Bryman (2016) to consist out of theoretical sampling, coding, theoretical saturation and continuous comparison. A central aspect of this theory is an iterative approach, meaning there is coaction between data collection and data analysis (Buchanan & Bryman, 2007). This means that categories and concepts are being created following the data, and these concepts and categories are then used to explain the results found in the data. Following the results of the ascribed roles to intermediaries in inclusive innovation, these roles will be related back to theories about intermediaries in innovation.

The data of this study is based on qualitative interviews with key stakeholders from the EBZ. This study uses a qualitative research method for various reasons. For studying economic inequality most often big data sets are used, which are then studied quantitively. But, this study is interested in looking at different perspectives of inclusion in relation to innovation, and therefore is looked at through a constructivist lens. This varies between actors, and can thus not be studied quantitively. Because the EBZ acts as a connecter between various partners, their role of bridging actors in relation to inclusive innovation can be analysed easily. By interviewing different partners about inclusive innovation and the role of intermediaries in improving inclusiveness in relation to innovation, the potential role of intermediaries can be analyzed closely. Qualitative interviews are the best way to analyze this because it can bring out different meanings easily, and then go into depth about them, specifically because these meanings cannot be found elsewhere.

Specifically, this study interviewed 16 key stakeholders who are brought together by the intermediary Economic Board Zuid-Holland (EBZ), these actors are all innovating themselves or are actively trying to stimulate the innovation climate. The way they act as intermediary, is by constructing and manage taskforces on specific topics and by holding four yearly conferences with all board members. In order to get a as complete image of the different meanings given to inclusive innovation as possible, this study will interview board members of the EBZ and members of the secretariat of the EBZ. In the end, in this study fourteen board members of the EBZ where interviewed and two members of the secretariat of the EBZ, this brings it to a total of 16 interviews. These interviews where around 45 minutes each, from which the shortest was 25 minutes and the longest 55 minutes. This study uses a standardized semi-structured interview guide, which allows for a guided, but open, conversation (Schmidt, 2004). The interview guide can be found in Appendix A.

The analytical strategy in a semi-structured interview can be presented in multiple stages. First, the framework is set up from which we try to understand the context of inclusive innovation in the area the actors are operating, to fill this framework I asked the interviewees questions about *which* types of inclusiveness they are targeting and *how* they do this. After this

the interviewees were asked what the current role of the EBZ was and what it should be according to them to stimulate inclusive innovation. The stakeholders will also be divided by their sector in the triple helix and the taskforce they are in. After this case overviews can be produced based on the respective categories and similar viewpoints are linked together. This study will then look for patterns about viewpoints on inclusive innovation and intermediaries and look if they indeed differ between stakeholders. Lastly, in the analytical stage these will be examined and linked back to the existing theories about different normative viewpoints about inclusive innovation and the role intermediaries could have.

#### 3.2 Research quality

According to LeCompte & Goets (1982), the quality of a research depends on the internal and external reliability and internal and external variability. Internal reliability is dependent on the inter-observer consistency, and often refers to whether the observations of different researchers are the same. Because this study is carried out by one researcher, the inter reliability is sufficient. External reliability is about the degree to which the research can be replicated. Because the interviews will be semi-structured, an interview guide is created and added to the Appendix. So each interview could be replicated, and should have similar results if similar stakeholders are interviewed.

Internal validity depends on whether the observations of the research are in line with the theoretical idea that is being developed (Bryman, 2012). This is being done by interviewing the most important stakeholders brought together by the EBZ, by answering the two subquestions, and answering the research question based on the sub-questions linked back to existing theories. External validity is depend on ensuring the generalizability of the results to other social settings (LeCompte and Goetz, 1982). This research focusses on all important stakeholders in South-Holland and the EBZ as intermediary. Therefore, this research gives a good overview on the viewpoints on inclusive innovation and the role of intermediaries in relation to innovation in South-Holland. In order to increase its generalizability, future research should focus on other regions.

#### 4. Results

This study looks at the different meanings important actors of the innovation climate in South-Holland give to inclusive innovation. The actors are plotted on a framework in which they are analyzed, which is shown below. The results of this research will be presented by using colours to identify how many interviewees share a specific meaning. It is very important to bear in mind that the more uniform the spectrum of colours and darker the shades are, the more consensus has been found. This will be a starting point for the analyses, regarding the complete picture. Second, there will be a focus on particular fields in this framework, because they seem to represent a kind of consensus on the level of these particular fields.

Table B: Framework inclusive innovation South-Holland

	Social	Industrial	Territorial
Intent	Almost all actors: A diverse own team Two actors: automation leads to exclusion One actor: Giving computers to certain scholars Few actors: Creating products that are available to everyone	Several actors: Should also focus on sectors other than Technology	Two actors: International local projects, sustainability One actor: local projects Rotterdam One actor: Automation technology (harbor)
Consumption	Few actors: Creating products that are available to everyone	Nothing	Two actors: Subsidies targeting innovation for certain districts
Impact	Few actors: Digital inclusion One actor: Focusing creating medicine for woman as well Two actors: Frugal Innovation	Nothing	Two actors: Subsidies targeting innovation for certain districts
Process	Almost all actors: a diverse team One actor: Social innovation	Two actors: Stimulate innovation SME	One actor: Harbor sector
Structural	Two actors: Innovation knowledge should be widely available Several actors: Reskilling certain people	Few actors: Reskilling towards certain sectors Few actors: Changing viewpoints of certain sectors to attract people	One actor: Mechanisms innovation focused on Tu Delft One actor: Mechanism innovation focused on the Randstad
Post-structural	One actor: Economic system bias towards certain people	One actor: Economic system build around innovation with bias towards Technology sector	One actor: Economic system bias towards Tu Delft

#### 4.1 Main findings

The main finding that can be drawn from this study is that the viewpoints on inclusive innovation are very diverse, with a few exceptions. The viewpoints are scattered through the framework, not because all actors mention all dimension, but because all actors appear to have specific views. A second main finding is that there are no clear correlation between actor types and their meaning given to inclusive innovation. These findings relate to the first question this research tries to answer, and show that the basic conditions for a successful innovation strategy are not in place, and therefore warrant that there is the need for an actor which can bring these views together. Third, is that the roles that the interviewees ascribe to intermediaries in inclusive innovation are also diverse, ranging from no role to a strong guiding role

The results show diversity in what inclusion the interviewees want to achieve, in the way they want to achieve this and in terms of how those forms of inclusion are spread across the different actors, so I did not find a pattern where all interviewees from an actor type (e.g. public sector) had the same view on inclusion and or the role of intermediaries. The viewpoints are diverse in that there are no clear patterns, which Levidow & Pappiaonou (2018) suggested there were, but that there are many different viewpoints each actor can have.

Looking more specific at certain viewpoints it shows that almost all interviewees target social dimensions of inclusive innovation whereas about half of the interviews also target either industrial or territorial dimensions of inclusive innovation. So, despite the scattered pattern, the interviewees see social inclusiveness as the main focus of *what* kind of inclusion they are targeting. Interestingly, there are no actors who only focus on one dimension of *what* kind of inclusion.

Another interesting finding is that there are two sections in the framework where almost all of the actors can be categorized in. They are both in the social dimension and in the intent and the process step off the ladder of Heeks et al. (2013).

In this study the interviewees are from the business sectors, from the public sector and from knowledge institutions. Interestingly, this study has not found correlation between the viewpoints of actors and the sector they are working in. For example, some actors of the public sector can be mostly categorized in the social dimension and on the lower levels of the ladder, while other actors from the public sector can be categorized in all dimensions and are mostly in the higher levels of the ladder.

The actors this study looks at are divided in certain taskforces within the EBZ. In these taskforce the actors focus on a specific issue and have shared goals they want to achieve. For example in "Human Capital", the parties commit themselves to firm objectives concerning the (re)training of personnel, the guidance of employees from work to work and the attraction of international talent. Because of this it would not be strange to assume that the actors within these taskforces have similar viewpoints. But again, the data does not show any correlation between the taskforce the actor is in and their meaning given towards inclusive innovation. For example, some actors in the "Circulaire Economie" taskforce focus almost primarily on the social dimension, while others focus on the territorial dimension and industrial dimension as well.

These findings show confirmation on the constructivist view on inclusive innovation. While using semantically the same language about inclusive innovation there are indeed many diverse viewpoints about inclusive innovation. To understand the role that they ascribe towards intermediaries in inclusive innovation, these diverse meanings will be further laid out in the following section,

#### 4.2 Viewpoints on inclusive innovation

In the following section I will show the diversity for every type of inclusion: *social, industrial* and *territorial*. Within these dimensions I will describe in more detail how the interviewees want to achieve those types of inclusion if that was noted. By doing this I show how the framework above was filled in and give more in depth analysis about how I came to the main findings.

#### 4.2.1 Social inclusiveness

As noted before, all but one actor focus on social inclusiveness in innovation. These actors all said they focus on gender and ethnicity, so in this area viewpoints are very similar. For example an interviewee who works at an R&D company mentioned that "we try to look not only at gender but also at other nationalities in our innovation teams" - Interviewee 7. Such activities can be understood as being socially inclusive because they target specific actor groups, and as being inclusive in terms of process by including excluded groups in the innovation process. This was the type of inclusion that was found most often (hence the dark brown color in Table B). Another interviewee, a policy advisor of a large company mentioned that "the figures show that we have a fairly middle aged white male dominated distribution, we have to do something with this." - Interviewee 2. Because these activities are not around the innovation teams, this can be seen at the intent level of the framework.

Beside gender and ethnicity, the interviewees also target other types of social inclusion, for example along the line of income, education level, religion, age, and character traits. So although there seems to be an kind of consensus regarding the importance inclusion in terms of social inclusion, the way interviewees define this concept, shows again a diversity in interpretation. Most interviewees define social inclusiveness in a different way. Besides that — in line with the second conclusion in the paragraph main findings - there is no correlation found between actor type and what kind of people they focus on. For example, we cannot say that people that work in the public sector all focus on gender, ethnicity and education level.

Looking at how these interviewees want to achieve social inclusion, we see that almost all actors try to achieve at the intent and process level. Interestingly, the way they operationalize these two levels show resemblance. These interviewees say they want to achieve this at the intent level, by creating a diverse own team. They focus on the process by stating that research and development teams should consist of a diverse group of people, as this would increase innovation output.

Some actors focus on the consumption level and state that in order to achieve inclusiveness, products should be made that are available to everyone. They say they often focus on the cost aspect of the innovation and should thus be affordable to everyone. The actors who say that are from all three sectors of the triple helix, and thus we again see no clear pattern.

Other actors focus on the impact level, and state multiple ways to achieve inclusiveness. A few actors state that digital inclusion is important. They highlight the importance of the digital revolution and making sure that no people are left behind, for example, one employee working in the public sector said that "with innovations, it is often older people who have difficulty keeping up. Because of the digital revolution, we really have to take that into account. We are now thinking about that, setting up special projects" – Interviewee 10 . One actor says that in order to achieve inclusiveness, in research for medicine, people should also look at the effects specific medicine have on woman, instead of only men. Two more actors state that to achieve inclusiveness, one has to focus on frugal innovation. Creating cheap products, so that the innovation is widely available to all.

Some actors try to achieve inclusiveness by stating that knowledge streams should be accessible to everyone, and that the system should be altered in order to do this. They state that some knowledge about innovation is hard to find when people are lower educated. In order to achieve inclusiveness in relation to innovation, this knowledge should be widely available to everyone. So changes should be made at the system/structural level. Some actors from the "Human Capital" and "Circulaire Economie" taskforces state that certain people should be reskilled so they have more opportunities. For example, one interviewee active in the taskforce "Human Capital" mentioned that "people with a migrant background are less inclined to choose a technical education and more inclined to choose an economic education." – Interviewee 9. This interviewee argues that if these people switch towards a technical education they are much more like to be included. But, other actors from these taskforces only focus on the process level or lower. Again, there are no clear patterns here.

Lastly, one actor (Interviewee 9) stated that in order to achieve inclusiveness we should look at how our economic system is built and the way we frame innovation. According to this actor, the way we frame how our innovation system is build, leads to a specific bias to white, higher educated people. If we truly want to achieve social inclusion, we should frame how our innovation system is built differently.

These results highlight the diversity of the meanings the interviewees give to social inclusion, and confirms the constructivist notion of this study. Whilst most people focus on gender and ethnicity, and focus on the intent and process level, we also found a variety of other ways how the interviewees view social inclusion and how they would go on to achieving it. This supports my notion that, while almost all of the interviewees focus on social inclusion, there is still a lot of diversion between the viewpoints they have. What looks like consensus on this particular topic, appears to be, on a conceptually deeper level, a collection of diverse meanings.

#### 4.2.2 Industrial inclusiveness

Interviewees highlight different types of industrial inequalities that require inclusive innovation, including inequalities between different sectors, or between small and large

companies. For example, one interviewee active in the public sector mentioned that "when you talk about the power of the big companies. Then I think that if we want to play a bit of a levelling role in the province, you also have to be able to give the smaller companies opportunities for our subsidies." – Interviewee 5. A little over half of the actors were targeting inclusion in the industrial dimension. However, there is no clear pattern in the area they operate, the taskforce they are in or the type of actor they are in the triple helix and what they understand under industrial inclusiveness.

Several interviewees mentioned there is too much a focus on the technology industry, and that is important to also look at other sectors, especially for innovation. These interviewees don't really explain how this should be done or how they address this themselves, so therefore these viewpoints are put at the intent level. Again, we see actors from all parts of the triple helix with this viewpoint, and we don't see other patterns.

Interestingly, we now see the only two sections in the framework where none of the interviewees say anything about. This is at the consumption and the impact level. None of the actors say that industrial inclusiveness should be achieved by creating products that target specific sectors or firms and or have impact on these sectors or firms

Some actors say something about achieving territorial inclusion at the process level, for example one actor mentioned "They developed a lot of innovations that they could apply in their own environment. Ordinary companies also just need new innovation." – Interviewee 16. They note that specific attention need to be paid to include more small-medium enterprises in the innovation process and that there should be taken measures to not only focus on multinationals when investing and or targeting innovative activity. Other actors the public sector say nothing about small-medium enterprises, so again no patterns can be found.

Quite a few actors feel like industrial inclusiveness can be achieved at the structural level by reskilling people towards certain sectors and by changing the viewpoints about certain sectors in order to gain attraction towards these sectors. An example given by multiple actors is that the technology sector still has the image of people getting dirty hands, which especially in some cultures is being looked down on. Therefore, there are not enough people being educated towards these sectors. One manager of an R&D company mentioned that "Talk about how nice the work is, show that it is not the work it used to be"—Interviewee 12. To battle this some actors even suggest limiting the freedom of choice of education. Many actors of the 'Human Capital' taskforce have this viewpoint, but not all of them and there are also actors from other taskforces, so again we see no patterns.

Lastly, one actors (Interviewee 9) spoke of the bias of how we frame our economic system and our innovation system. Therefore, there is an inherent bias towards the technology sectors, and to battle this we should rethink our whole view of how our economic system.

These results highlight again the diversity of the meanings the interviewees give territorial inclusion. Whilst there is some overlap, especially about the importance of focusing on other sectors than the technology sector, there is still much diffusion how to achieve territorial inclusion. We see, besides the harbor sector, no clear pattern in the area they operate or the actor type they are and the way they look at industrial inclusion.

#### 4.2.3 Territorial inclusiveness

About half of the interviewees are targeting inclusion at the territorial dimension. They come from all the taskforces and from the three components of the triple helix, which shows the diversity in viewpoints. Interestingly, for almost all interviewees the region they are targeting is also the region they operate in. For example, two interviewees working in multination companies target territorial inclusiveness at the international level, "..... even in poor countries, a reasonable living can be guaranteed thanks to the innovation of products that we bring." – Interviewee 4. They focus on local-local projects in foreign countries to improve these regions.

An interviewee working closely with the harbor of Rotterdam questions whether "all the work will be done by robots or do we also want innovations that will allow people to keep their jobs" — Interviewee 3. There is the intent of at least thinking what will happens when automation causes certain people to lose their jobs. And lastly, an actor stationed in Rotterdam wants to attract more local projects within Rotterdam. These actors don't give specifics about how to achieve territorial inclusiveness, but show that they are at least thinking about how to achieve it, therefore they can be categorized within the intent level.

Two interviewees from the public sector (Interviewee 3 and Interviewee 10) argue that there is the need to improve territorial inclusiveness by giving targeted subsidies towards innovation projects for certain districts. They argue that some districts are inherently lacking behind other districts and with subsidies for innovation projects this could help immensely. However, not all interviewees from the public sector focus on these levels and some don't even focus on territorial inclusiveness at all. Therefore, we can again not find any patterns.

One interviewee argued that "the point is, the port is a fairly closed bulwark, because of safety due to security reasons" – Interviewee 7. It is not easy to find new people that can work within the harbor. Therefore, word of mouth advertising is the main way to find new workers, and they tend to find people similar to themselves. There is a need to pay specific attention to this, because he argues that increased inclusivity in the innovation process will also improve innovative activity.

One interviewee from a knowledge institution argues that there is an inherent system bias: "we design our systems in such a way that white boys and girls at the Tu Delft in particular can come up with innovations" – Interviewee 9. One interviewee from the secretariat of the EBZ argues that this bias is towards the Randstad. In order to improve inclusivity they both argue that there is a need to alter the system towards other regions as well. Again, we don't see patterns here.

All these different kind of inclusion the interviewees are targeting and the different ways the interviewees want to achieve these inclusions show the enormous diversity in viewpoints about inclusive innovation. If they want to stimulate inclusive innovation there is indeed a need for a broker that can bring these viewpoints together. This is where intermediaries, and in this case the EBZ, can play a role. Now, understanding the different viewpoints in South-Holland and the great diversity between them, the following section will elaborate the different roles ascribed to the EBZ.

#### 4.3 Meanings ascribed to the role of the intermediaries in respect to inclusive innovation

Unsurprisingly, the interviewees ascribe a range of different roles to intermediaries in achieving inclusive innovation, and these roles are diffused along the actors as well. There is no correlation between how the actors view inclusive innovation or how to achieve inclusiveness and the role they give to the intermediary to tackle this. There is also no correlation between the actor type and their roles ascribed towards the intermediary. This study found three distinctive roles ascribed towards intermediaries in inclusive innovation. The first is *no role at all*, the second is a *facilitator of learning* role and the third is a more *pro-active role demonstrating the importance of inclusive innovation* and goalsetting.

First, six of the actors feel like the EBZ and their taskforces *are not the right place* where inclusive innovation should be targeted. Most of them argue that the EBZ and the taskforces are brought to life for specific purposes, where connecting it with inclusivity does not work. Others feel like we should not make the problem bigger than it is, for example one interviewee mentioned that "I don't miss it either. And I like that, sometimes it's not a subject because we are already inclusive." – Interviewee 2. And lastly, some feel like the people who are within the EBZ should be diverse, but making the board more diverse is enough. They don't feel like the EBZ should focus on inclusion in relation to innovation other than diversity. These actors are from all types of the triple helix, and of the different taskforces. We again see no patterns here.

Second, the next role interviewees ascribe to intermediaries is that of a *facilitator in the learning process* about inclusive innovation. Five of the interviewees ascribe this role towards the EBZ. They argue that the main role the EBZ should play is that of getting actors together to start the conversation about inclusive innovation, what it means for the different actors, how to solve it and therefore learn from each other. For example one interviewee mentioned that "so step one is actually to start the conversation. Talk to each other and learn from each other" – Interviewee 1.

Lastly, the last role ascribed to intermediaries is that of a pro-active role demonstrating the importance of inclusive innovation. Five of the actors feel like the EBZ should play an active role in improving inclusive innovation. Four of them feel like the EBZ need to show the economic interest in improving inclusivity. They argue that it is simply unwise to not use the now excluded resource of people/sectors/regions, as they simply put are resources that should be used, "we need to look at it from an economic perspective to ensure that we get the positions filled" – Interviewee 7. They feel like showing to the outside world the economic importance as well and not only the social relevance will lead to more cooperation from other parties. Three of them feel like there should be discussions about setting inclusivity standards, especially if the money is publicly funded. And lastly, three of them argue that within the EBZ there need to be a well-defined definition about what inclusive innovation is, why it is important, set goals and define a strategy how to achieve this. All these roles are that of highlighting the importance of inclusive innovation, and how to achieve this. Therefore, they can all be put in this one category. Again, no clear pattern could be found, for example, actors who considered social inclusion important did not assign a pro-active role demonstrating the importance of inclusive innovation towards the EBZ.

## 4.4 How do the ascribed role to intermediaries in inclusive innovation relate to the theory about intermediaries in innovation?

This study used grounded theory, because this methodology allows to create new concepts to emerge from the data. In order to further explore what these new concepts could potentially mean, it is important to compare these concepts to earlier literature on intermediaries in innovation. Therefore, the new concepts that emerged are first analyzed, and after this I try to explain why some roles, who are present in literature about intermediaries in innovation, did not emerge out of this data in this study.

The viewpoints ascribed towards intermediaries in inclusive innovation relate to the literature in the following way. First, the notion that the intermediary actor should not play a role in connecting viewpoints of inclusive innovation goes against the constructivist notion of this study, which states that intermediaries could have an important role in bridging viewpoints together. Stated otherwise, when meanings differ, one needs "something" to bring them togheter in order to formulate a successful strategy. The second role ascribed towards intermediary actors in inclusive innovation is that off facilitating a learning process between parties. This is in line with the innovation process management function Klerkx & Leeuwis (2009) describe in their three basic functions of intermediaries in innovation. This study thus has shown that intermediaries could also use this role for inclusive innovation. The last role ascribed to intermediaries in inclusive innovation is that of a pro-active role demonstrating the importance of inclusive innovation. This builds upon the demand articulation function of the framework of Klerkx & Leeuwis (2009), but goes much further. It shows an active role in articulating the notion of inclusive innovation and goes even further by elaborating why it should be pursued. This might have theoretical implications regarding the completeness of the framework of Klerkx & Leeuwis (2009) if used for inclusive innovation.

The role of network facilitator described by Klerkx & Leeuwis (2009) did not come forward in the roles ascribed by the interviewees. None of the interviewees argued that the intermediary actors could act as an actor who could act as a matchmaker of possible cooperation partners regarding inclusive innovation. It is not easy, looking at the results as such to explain why this is the case This is maybe caused by the fact that the EBZ also has other areas in which it operates as intermediary other than for stimulating inclusive innovation, and that the interviewees feel like there should not be new board members attracted purely for inclusive innovation.

The roles of technology transfer and the role of relational work also did not come forward in the roles ascribed by the interviewees. For relational work this may be ascribed because the scale of the EBZ is the whole of South-Holland and therefore targeting individual grassroot innovation maybe too small. For technology transfer this could maybe explained by the fact that inclusive innovation is still a relatively new topic, and the interviewees feel like this topic must be explored first, before intermediaries can take a very active role by transferring specific technologies between actors and sectors.

#### 5. Discussion

The trigger of this study was the report of the OECD (2021), which critiques the "Joint Growth Agenda (JGA)" that there was not enough attention being paid to stimulate inclusion in Zuid-Holland. The study argues that the JGA has an opportunity to close the social gaps created by this crisis and address structural inequalities that were already present and have been exposed through the COVID-19 crisis (OECD, 2021). The results of this study provides an explanation, together with the used theoretical framework explains why the attention for inclusive innovation at the level of the EBZ was absent and therefore shows that the OECD was right to criticize this growth agenda: there was not consensus on this topic and for some key players it was not on the top of their minds at the moment It became clear that important actors in South-Holland collectively are not paying enough attention to inclusive innovation as a way to improve inclusion. This is highlighted in the framework created in this study, which shows that most actors are in the upper left part of the framework, which shows an bias towards low levels of inclusion, predominantly focused on social inclusion. The ladder of inclusive innovation (JHeeks, 2013), states that the highest level of inclusion will be achieved with innovations at the structural and post-structural level, and in South-Holland almost none of the actors focus on these levels. The study also gives an explanation of the absence of inclusive innovation in the strategy of EBZ: the diversity of opinion on the subject itself and the diversity of opinions of the role the interviewees subscribe to the intermediary actor.

This lack of attention being paid towards inclusive innovation could be explained in multiple ways. First, it could be that inclusive innovation is a relatively new topic which has not been thought about very much yet. You may ask yourself whether this is a tannable view in 2022, because as research on inclusive innovation has shown it is an important tool to achieve inclusive growth, and it has not only a social significance, it also has an economic significance, as pointed out earlier with reference to the OECD-report. Perhaps a more precise explanation in this respect could be the lack of insight that inclusiveness is not only important because of societal reasons, but also because of economic reasons. A small minority of interviewees stressed this point of view and pointed out that we are facing more and more shortages of employees, and thus by including them in the innovation process it leads to economic gains as well.

Second, it could also mean that inclusive innovation is such a demanding topic that it is impossible for every actor to deal with all aspects of it. If that would be the case, then one could expect that the interviewees look at the EBZ to organize the needed cooperation. As this study showed, some interviewees do, most of them don't.

Last, it could be that inclusion is so context specific that what the key factors are is totally specific to the scope of the business. In the results of territorial inclusiveness it came forwards that the scope of companies is highly important to how they view inclusion. This would mean that the actors cannot look beyond their own interests and would it make it very hard to achieve inclusive innovation.

Therefore, the role that intermediaries in bridging these different viewpoints are vital. In a way, looking at how the EBZ views itself, it is understandable that that quite few of the interviewees don't ascribe a role to the EBZ in stimulating inclusive innovation, and some interviewees only ascribe a facilitator role that enables learning from each other. Looking at the

way the EBZ presents itself on her website, the EBZ seems to feel comfortable in a reacting role, rather than in a initiating of proactive role. The EBZ leaves the initiating role to her participants. Again, the question is if we have a tannable positioning here. If the OECD rapport (2021) critiques the JGA about the lack of attention being paid to inclusion and the actors don't 'ascribe a big role for the EBZ to stimulate inclusiveness, how will such an important aspect, both socially and economically, ever be achieved.

We are facing a profound dilemma here. The diversity in opinions and the need to pick up the topic of inclusive innovation – again because of it societal *and* economic benefits – urge for a initiating role for the EBZ. But the way the EBZ sees itself and the role interviewees subscribe to the EBZ seem to be prohibitive for a successful start of the development of an effective strategy on inclusive innovation. It asks for a redefinition of the role and position of the EBZ.

If the EBZ truly wants to stimulate inclusive innovation, in my opinion it should do the following. First, it should give a clear description what inclusive innovation entails, at least organize a process that helps to bring about the synchroneity in opinions. The framework created in this study could be an useful tool to do this. It should find out for themselves why they want to achieve inclusive innovation and should explain this convincingly to the board members. Then it should create quantifiable goals which they want to achieve and share these goals with it board members. After this has been done, they should play an active role in facilitating the discussion about inclusive innovation, facilitate learning and constantly update the goals in response to this learning process.

The theoretical implications of this study towards the framework of Klerkx & Leeuwis (2009) is that, whilst the functions could be useful in stimulating inclusive innovation, before these roles can be taken on there must be some kind of congruence in thinking between key stakeholders. This is a role that an intermediary in inclusive innovation can take, but stands at the beginning of the innovation process. In this role the intermediary could play a role in giving a clear description in what inclusive innovation entails, organize a process that helps bring synchroneity in opinions and facilitates a learning process between key stakeholders about their viewpoints on inclusive innovation and lastly create together with key stakeholder or even by himself clear goals to strive towards. So, the roles of intermediaries in inclusive innovation go beyond the scope of the framework of Klerkx & Leeuwis, and if they want to expand their framework towards inclusive innovation they should explore this further.

What stroke me while doing the interviews, is the following. I felt a kind of "concept tiredness". Multiple interviewees elaborated that they find all the different concepts being thrown around tiresome and say they slam shut when they hear new concepts. Thus, this also highlights the important of the role of the EBZ of precisely explaining what inclusive innovation entails, but more importantly also explain why it should be something the actors should pursue.

Limitations of this study are that it has a relatively small sample size of only sixteen interviewees and only looks at players in South-Holland. Future research should thus increase this sample size and look at other regions as well. By doing this they can get an even broader view of the different viewpoints on inclusive innovation and the role actors ascribe to intermediaries. This could either verify the results found in this study that the viewpoints on inclusive innovation are diffused or it could lead to correlations which have not been found in this research.

The study of Levidow & Papioannou (2018) was a big starting point of this study. The study used a constructivist approach to explain inclusive innovation. They stated that there were two distinct camps of viewpoints actors could have on inclusive innovation. The liberal-individualistic camp and the social-collectivist camp. In this study these two distinctive camps did not come forward. Almost all interviewees in this study had viewpoints that could be placed in both of the camps, and there did not come other camps forward. So, although the study was a basepoint of this research the findings did not match with the findings found earlier by Levidow & Papioannou. This could maybe be explained by the fact that these authors did not use the same framework as was used in this study or by the fact that the sample size in this study was relatively small. Nevertheless, it gives a reason to further explore these camps of viewpoints Levidow & Pappioannou created and gives reason to further explore whether there are different camps of viewpoints.

Another interesting findings is that Heeks et al. (2013) say that the levels of the ladder of inclusive innovation build upon the lower levels. In this study some interviewees can be categorized at the process level of the ladder of inclusive innovation, but not on the lower levels. This contradicts the normative framework of Heeks, which state that all the levels of the ladder build upon each other, and raises the interesting question how to deal, in practice and theory with this 'imperfection'. Further research on how this levels of the ladder compare to each other is thus warranted.

#### 6. Conclusion

This study attempts to answer what the roles are ascribed to intermediary actor in stimulating inclusive innovation in South-Holland. Inclusive innovation is the development and implementation of new ideas which aspire to create opportunities and enhance social and economic welfare for disenfranchised members of the society. Inclusive innovation is not only important from a social or political standpoint, but also from an economic standpoint because it exploits resources, labour force, which were otherwise not used. To answer this research question, this study used a constructivist approach to look at inclusive innovation. This constructivist approach assumes that people give different meanings to inclusion, and in order to stimulate it as well as possible these different viewpoints should be brought together.

Therefore, this study has looked at the meanings the different board members of the Economic Board Zuid-Holland give towards inclusive innovation. These actors are among the most important actors in the innovation system in Zuid-Holland, and have articulated the wish to improve inclusion. First, to understand the roles ascribed towards intermediary actors, the different meanings of views on inclusive innovation in Zuid-Holland have been outlined. This study has showed that in South-Holland, there are a lot of different ways actors look at inclusive innovation. This is on the one hand positive, because actors are targeting all kind of inclusion and inclusion levels, but on the other hand make it hard to stimulate inclusive innovation. This thus means that the conditions required for stimulating inclusive innovation are not yet present, and that there could be a big role for intermediary actors bringing these different meanings together.

After this, the study outlined the roles ascribed towards intermediaries in inclusive innovation, and found three distinctive roles. First, that intermediaries should play no role in bridging the different meanings actors describe towards inclusive innovation. This contradicts the constructivist notion of this study. Second, the intermediary actors should play an facilitating role of a learning process about inclusive innovation between actors. This is in line with the function of innovation process manager of Klerx & Leeuwis (2009). And the last role ascribed was that of playing a pro-active role demonstrating the importance of inclusive innovation. This is an extension of the demand articulation role described by Klerx & Leeuwis (2009), by going beyond articulating demand by taking an active role in articulating the notion of inclusive innovation and goes even further by elaborating why it should be pursued.

Concluding, if an intermediary organization wants to stimulate inclusive innovation in South-Holland playing a passive role is not enough. If it truly wants to stimulate inclusive innovation it should take an active leadership role in which it should give a clear definition on what kind of inclusion they should target, how they want to achieve this and explain why this is important. In other words it should outline a perspective on inclusive innovation. For the sake of the economy. For the sake of society.

#### References

Ahn, J., Khandelwal, A. K., & Wei, S. J. (2011). The role of intermediaries in facilitating trade. Journal of International Economics, 84(1), 73-85.

Bijker, W. E. (1996). Democratization of technology, who are the experts. Retrieved November, 3, 2009.

Bijker, W. E., 1987. The Social Construction of Bakelite: Toward a Theory of Invention, in: Bijker, W. E., Hughes, T. P., Pinch, T. (Eds.), The Social Construction of Technological Systems - New Directions in the Sociology and History of Technology. MIT Press, Cambridge, pp. 159-187.

Boon, W. P., Moors, E. H., Kuhlmann, S., & Smits, R. E. (2008). Demand articulation in intermediary organisations: The case of orphan drugs in the Netherlands. *Technological forecasting and social change*, 75(5), 644-671.

Bryman, A. (2012). Social research methods. Oxford university press.

Bryman, A. (2016). Social research methods. Oxford University Press.

Buchanan, D. A., & Bryman, A. (2007). Contextualizing methods choice in organizational research. Organizational research methods, 10(3), 483-501.

Chataway, J., Hanlin, R. & Kaplinsky, R. (2014) Inclusive Innovation: An Architecture for Policy Development. Innovation and Development, 4(1), 33-54.

Cozzens, S. & Sutz, J. (2012) Innovation in Informal Settings: A Research Agenda, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

Dalziel, M. (2010, June). Why do innovation intermediaries exist. In DRUID Summer Conference (Vol. 2010, p. 24).

Djordjevic, B., Spirtovic, O., & Acimovic, D. (2016). Social constructivism and technology. International Journal of Business and Social Science, 7(11), 178-189.

Foster, C., & Heeks, R. (2015). Policies to Support Inclusive Innovation. (IDPM Development Informatics Working Papers; No. 61).

Foster, C. & Heeks, R.B. (2013) Conceptualising inclusive innovation: modifying systems of innovation frameworks to understand diffusion of new technology to low-income consumers, European Journal of Development Research, 25(3), 333-355

George, G., McGahan, A. M., & Prabhu, J. (2012). Innovation for inclusive growth: Towards a theoretical framework and a research agenda. Journal of management studies, 49(4), 661-683.

Gibbons, M., Limoges, C., Nowotny, H., Schwartzman, S., Scott, P., & Trow, M. (1994). The New production of knowledge: The dynamics of science and research in contemporary societies. London: Sage.

Glaser, B., & Strauss, A. (1967). The discovery of grounded theory. 1967. Weidenfield & Nicolson, London, 1-19.

Hall, J., Matos, S., Sheehan, L., & Silvestre, B. (2012). Entrepreneurship and innovation at the base of the pyramid: a recipe for inclusive growth or social exclusion?. Journal of Management Studies, 49(4), 785-812.

Hargadon, A., 1998. Firms as knowledge brokers: lessons in pursuing continuous innovation. California Management Review 40, 209–227.

Hargrave, T.J., van de Ven, A.H., 2006. A Collective Action Model of Institutional Innovation. The Academy of Management Review, 31(4), 864–888.

Hargreaves, T., Hielscher, S., Seyfang, G., & Smith, A. (2013). Grassroots innovations in community energy: The role of intermediaries in niche development. Global environmental change, 23(5), 868-880.

Hayne, C., & Vance, M. (2019). Information intermediary or de facto standard setter? Field evidence on the indirect and direct influence of proxy advisors. Journal of Accounting Research, 57(4), 969-1011.

Heeks, R., Foster, C., & Nugroho, Y. (2014). New models of inclusive innovation for development. *Innovation and Development*, 4(2), 175-185.

Heeks, R., Amalia, M., Kintu, R., & Shah, N. (2013). Inclusive innovation: definition, conceptualisation and future research priorities. development informatics working paper, (53).

Hodson, M., Marvin, S., & Bulkeley, H. (2013). The intermediary organisation of low carbon cities: a comparative analysis of transitions in Greater London and Greater Manchester. *Urban Studies*, 50(7), 1403-1422.

Hossain, M. (2016). Grassroots innovation: A systematic review of two decades of research. Journal of Cleaner Production, 137, 973-981.

Howells, J. (2006). Intermediation and the role of intermediaries in innovation. *Research policy*, 35(5), 715-728.

IDRC (2011) Innovation for Inclusive Development, IDRC, Ottawa

Jiménez, A (2018): Inclusive innovation from the lenses of situated agency: insights from innovation hubs in the UK and Zambia, Innovation and Development

Johnson, B., & Andersen, A. D. (2012). Learning, Innovation and Inclusive Development: New perspectives on economic development strategy and development aid. Aalborg Universitetsforlag.

Kelly, B., & Farahbakhsh, K. (2013). Public sociology and the democratization of technology: drawing on user-led research to achieve mutual education. The American Sociologist, 44(1), 42-53.

Kivimaa, P., Boon, W., Hyysalo, S., & Klerkx, L. (2019). Towards a typology of intermediaries in sustainability transitions: A systematic review and a research agenda. Research Policy, 48(4), 1062-1075.

Kivimaa, P. (2014). Government-affiliated intermediary organisations as actors in system-level transitions. *Research policy*, 43(8), 1370-1380.

Klerkx, L., & Leeuwis, C. (2009). Establishment and embedding of innovation brokers at different innovation system levels: Insights from the Dutch agricultural sector. Technological forecasting and social change, 76(6), 849-860.

Klerkx, L., & Leeuwis, C. (2008). Matching demand and supply in the agricultural knowledge infrastructure: Experiences with innovation intermediaries. Food policy, 33(3), 260-276.

LeCompte, M. D., and Goetz, J. P. (1982). 'Problems of Reliability and Validity in Ethnographic Research', Review of Educational Research, 52: 31–60. Lee, S.-Y., Kim, Y.-H., (2015). Antecedents and Consequences of Firms' Climate Change Management Practices: Stakeholder and Synergistic Approach. Sustainability 7, 14521–14536.

Leeuwis, B. Van Mierlo, R. Smits, R.K. Woolthuis, Innovation Systems and Social Learning: Linking the Meso And the Micro Level, NIDO, 2005.

van Lente, H., Hekkert, M., Smits, R., & Van Waveren, B. A. S. (2003). Roles of systemic intermediaries in transition processes. International journal of Innovation management, 7(03), 247-279.

Levidow, L., & Papaioannou, T. (2018). Which inclusive innovation? Competing normative assumptions around social justice. *Innovation and Development*, 8(2), 209-226.

Longworth, S., T. George and M. O'Dell (2019), "Preliminary findings from focus groups on economic inclusion in smaller cities", ProfitWise News and Views, No. 2, Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago.

Lundvall, B. Å. (2008). Innovation system research: Where it came from and where it might go. Georgia Institute of Technology.

Lundvall, B.-Å. (ed.) (1992), National Innovation Systems: Towards a Theory of Innovation and Interactive Learning, London, Pinter Publishers.

Lundvall, B. A., Dosi, G., & Freeman, C. (1988). Innovation as an interactive process: from user-producer interaction to the national system of innovation. 1988, 349, 369.

Martin, A. (2013) Global environmental in/justice, in practice: introduction, Geographical Journal 179(2): 98–104.

Martiskainen, M., & Kivimaa, P. (2018). Creating innovative zero carbon homes in the United Kingdom—Intermediaries and champions in building projects. Environmental innovation and societal transitions, 26, 15-31.

Moss, T. (2009). Intermediaries and the governance of sociotechnical networks in transition. Environment and Planning A, 41(6), 1480-1495.

Nielsen, R., & Ganter, S. A. (2018). Dealing with digital intermediaries: A case study of the relations between publishers and platforms. New media & society, 20(4), 1600-1617.

OECD (2021), "Towards COVID-19 recovery and greater resilience in Zuid-Holland, The Netherlands", *OECD Regional Development Papers*, No. 12, OECD Publishing, Paris, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1787/53b967a6-en">https://doi.org/10.1787/53b967a6-en</a>.

OECD (2020), Broad-based Innovation Policy for All Regions and Cities, OECD Publishing, Paris

OECD (2015a), Income Inequality: The Gap between Rich and Poor, OECD Publishing, Paris, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264246010-en">http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264246010-en</a>.

Page, M., & Fuller, S. (2021). Governing energy transitions in Australia: Low carbon innovation and the role for intermediary actors. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 73, 101896.

Parag, Y., & Janda, K. B. (2014). More than filler: Middle actors and socio-technical change in the energy system from the "middle-out". Energy Research & Social Science, 3, 102-112.

Pinch, T., Bijker, W. E., 1984. The Social Construction of Facts and Artefacts: Or How the Sociology of Science and the Sociology of Technology Might Benefit Each Other. Social Studies of Science 14, 399-341.

Planes-Satorra, S. and C. Paunov (2017), "Inclusive innovation policies: Lessons from international case studies", OECD Science, Technology and Industry Working Papers, 2017/02, OECD Publishing, Paris.

Ramani, S.V., SadreGhazi, S. & Duysters, G. (2012) On the diffusion of toilets as bottom of the pyramid innovation, Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 79(4), 676-687

Schmidt, C. (2004). The analysis of semi-structured interviews. A companion to qualitative research, 253, 258.

Smink, M., Negro, S. O., Niesten, E., & Hekkert, M. P. (2015). How mismatching institutional logics hinder niche—regime interaction and how boundary spanners intervene. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 100, 225-237.

Smith, A., Fressoli, M., & Thomas, H. (2014). Grassroots innovation movements: challenges and contributions. Journal of Cleaner Production, 63, 114-124.

Stiglitz, J.E. (2012) The Price of Inequality: How Today's Divided Society Endangers Our Future. WW Norton & Company, New York, NY.

Tisenkopfs, T., Kunda, I., Šūmane, S., Brunori, G., Klerkx, L., & Moschitz, H. (2015). Learning and innovation in agriculture and rural development: The use of the concepts of boundary work and boundary objects. The Journal of Agricultural Education and Extension, 21(1), 13-33.

Utz, A. and Dahlman, C. (2007) Promoting inclusive innovation, in: M.A. Dutz (ed) Unleashing India's Innovation: Toward Sustainable and Inclusive Growth, World Bank, Washington, DC, 105-129

Villani, E., Rasmussen, E., & Grimaldi, R. (2017). How intermediary organizations facilitate university—industry technology transfer: A proximity approach. *Technological forecasting and social change*, 114, 86-102.

Voeten, J. J., & Naudé, W. A. (2014). Regulating the negative externalities of enterprise cluster innovations: Lessons from Vietnam. Innovation and Development, 4(2), 203-219.

Wilkinson, R.G. & Pickett, K. (2010) The Spirit Level. Bloomsbury Press, New York, NY

Winch, G. M., & Courtney, R. (2007). The organization of innovation brokers: An international review. Technology analysis & strategic management, 19(6), 747-763.

Wolpert, J.D., 2002. Breaking out of the innovation box. In: Harvard Business Review August, pp. 77–83.

#### Appendix A

#### 1) Introducerende vragen

- Wie bent u precies?
- Wat houdt uw baan precies in?
- Wat houdt je organisatie in?
- Is inclusie/exclusie een issue voor jullie?

#### 2) Vragen omtrent inclusie

- Wat verstaat u onder inclusie in relatie tot innovatie?
- Als we het over inclusie hebben over welke groepen mensen hebben we het dan bijvoorbeeld in jullie werk?
- Als we het over inclusie hebben welke sectoren hebben wij het dan over, of ziet u daar geen verschil in?
- En is inclusie ook op geografisch gebied ook belangrijk?

#### 3) Vragen omtrent inclusie

- Kunt u voorbeelden geven van innovaties waar u nu in uw werk mee bezig bent/mee bezig bent geweest waar inclusiviteit mee gestimuleerd is?
  - Als het een proces innovatie is, doorvragen of het ook op het product zelf kan slaan en vice versa
  - Doorvragen of het men op een proces of product moeten focussen of dat het juist belangrijk is om het system als een geheel te veranderen
  - o Is dat voldoende? Of moet er meer mee moeten gebeuren? Wat zou er dan precies moeten gebeuren?

#### 4) Vragen omtrent inclusie

- Op welke manier zou u inclusie in relatie tot innovatie bevorderen?
  - Wat zijn uw ambities op het gebied van inclusie in relatie tot innovatie
- Heeft u ook strategieën gezien die met elkaar kunnen botsen?
  - o Zo ja, hoe zou u hiermee omgaan?

#### 5) De rol van intermediaire organisaties

- Op welke manier speelt inclusie een rol binnen de taskforce en de EBZ?
- Op welke punten doet de EBZ nog te weinig in relatie tot inclusie, dus waar zou de taskforce nog meer kunnen doen?
- Wat zou de rol van de EBZ moeten zijn om verschillende percepties bij elkaar te brengen?